THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
G. Thomas Cooper Jr., Circuit Court Judge  
Case No. 2013-CP-40-7729  
Appellate Case Tracking Number: 2017-002325

**RECEIVED**  
AUG 08 2018  
SC Court of Appeals

The Gates at Williams-Brice  
Condominium Association  
and Katharine Swinson,  
individually, and on behalf of  
all others similarly situated,

Appellants,

v.

Quality Built, LLC and Coast  
To Coast Engineering  
Services, Inc. D/B/A  
Criterium Engineers,

Respondents.

---

**APPELLANTS' FINAL BRIEF**

---

Justin O'Toole Lucey, Esquire  
SC Bar No.: 15438  
Stephanie D. Drawdy, Esquire  
SC Bar No.: 70205

**STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

1. **Whether the Circuit Court erred in granting Quality Built, LLC's Motion for Declaratory Relief since Quality Built, LLC has never filed a cause of action for declaratory relief.**
2. **Whether the Circuit Court erred by determining that the QualityBuilt.com bankruptcy sale order barred Appellants from bringing their state law claims.**
3. **Whether the Circuit Court erred in making its own determination that the mere continuation exception to successor non-liability was not met in contravention of prevailing case law, and the facts and circumstances of this case.**

## **INTRODUCTION**

Respondent is the successor to the inspection company which provided quality assurance for the construction of The Gates at Williams-Brice in Columbia, South Carolina ("The Gates"). Respondent uses the same inspection software, in the same line of business, under the direction of the same president, advertising the same history and experience as the company that failed its quality assurance at The Gates.

Appellants seek reversal of Circuit Court Orders that improperly dismissed Plaintiffs' claims. First, the Circuit Court erred in granting declaratory relief when no declaratory judgment cause of action was pending. Second, the Circuit Court erred in finding the bankruptcy sale order to be a bar to Plaintiffs' state law claims. Third, the Circuit Court erred in mis-applying prevailing law and deciding issues of fact raised by Plaintiffs' successor liability claim. These errors demand reversal.

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This appeal arises from a putative class action that was commenced by Appellants in December 2013, for construction deficiencies at The Gates. Appellants are The Gates at Williams-Brice Condominium Association ("COA") and Katharine Swinson, individually, and on behalf of the owners of the one hundred fifty-eight (158) condominiums at The Gates. Appellants alleged negligence/gross negligence and breach of warranty against Quality Built, LLC in their complaint, and sought damages caused by defective quality control during the construction of The Gates. (R. pp. 47-58).

In early 2016, Appellants filed an Amended Complaint that clarified that Quality Built, LLC is the successor to Qualitybuilt.com and added an express successor liability claim against Quality Built, LLC as a mere continuation of QualityBuilt.com. (R. pp. 73-86).<sup>1</sup>

In February 2017, Quality Built, LLC filed its Motion for Declaratory Relief, or in the Alternative, Motion for Summary Judgment. (R. pp. 155-160). The Circuit Court heard oral argument on these Motions on March 13, 2017, and issued its Order granting Quality Built, LLC's Motion for Declaratory Relief on April 7, 2017. (R. pp. 37-43).

On April 20, 2017, Appellants filed a Motion for Reconsideration of the April 7, 2017 Order (R. pp. 569-575). On May 8, 2017, Appellants submitted supplemental authority that was pertinent to Appellants' Motion for Reconsideration. (R. pp. 1062-1126).

On July 17, 2017, the Circuit Court heard oral argument on Appellants' Motion for Reconsideration. The Court issued an Order that denied Appellants' Motion for Reconsideration on October 17, 2017. (R. pp. 44-46).

Appellants filed a Notice of Appeal of both the April 2017 Order and October 2017 Order with this Court on November 7, 2017. (R. pp. 110-113)

### **FACTUAL BACKGROUND**

Circa 1994, Stan Luhr started the "Quality Built" program, a third-party quality assurance inspection program.

---

<sup>1</sup> This amendment was predicated in part upon information learned in the deposition of Elizabeth Michaelis, President of Quality Built, LLC and Former President/Secretary of Quality Built.com, which occurred in the predecessor defective construction action, *The Gates at Williams-Brice Condominium Association, et al. v. DDC Construction, Inc., et al.*, Case No. 2012-CP-40-8512. As of this filing, the predecessor action has been substantially resolved, with claims remaining pending against fewer than a half-dozen parties.

In 1999, Luhr founded QualityBuilt.com as a litigation support company that employed the Quality Built program. Luhr hired Elizabeth Michaelis to work at QualityBuilt.com as its Vice President of Sales.<sup>2</sup>

Circa 2002, QualityBuilt.com launched its website, [www.qualitybuilt.com](http://www.qualitybuilt.com), and Luhr promoted Michaelis to Vice President of QualityBuilt.com.

Circa 2003, Luhr then promoted Michaelis to the dual roles of Vice President and Secretary of the Board of QualityBuilt.com.

Circa 2004, Luhr promoted Michaelis to the dual roles of President and Secretary of the Board of QualityBuilt.com; Luhr maintained the title of Chief Executive Officer of QualityBuilt.com.

In 2006, QualityBuilt.com was hired by The Gates' general contractor/developer pursuant to an insurance requirement for a third party to perform quality assurance inspection services for construction of The Gates. (R. pp. 721-722).

In March 2007, QualityBuilt.com obtained certification with The International Standards Organization ("ISO") by the hands-on work of QualityBuilt.com President and Board Secretary (R. pp. 441-448, 746). (This becomes relevant later in the chronology when Quality Built, LLC takes credit for the ISO certification).

In mid-2009, Quality Built, LLC was formed, and included two principle executives from QualityBuilt.com:

QualityBuilt.com Chief Executive Officer, President and 50% Equity Security Holder Stan Luhr held the title of Quality Built, LLC Chief Technical Officer, Principal and 5% common equity holder; and

---

<sup>2</sup> According to Michaelis, Luhr hired Michaelis as Vice President of Sales at QualityBuilt.com in 1996 – three (3) years before QualityBuilt.com was formed (R. p.718).

QualityBuilt.com President, Secretary, and 50% Equity Security Holder Elizabeth Michaelis held the title of Quality Built, LLC Executive President and 10% common equity holder (originally starting with 5%).

(R. pp. 242, 459-460, 719).

In late 2009, QualityBuilt.com filed for Chapter 11 Bankruptcy in the United States Bankruptcy Court, Southern District of California, Case No. 09-12113-PB11.

In February 2010, Quality Built, LLC's Managing Member and Head of its Board of Directors, Gary Elzweig, submitted an affidavit confirming Quality Built, LLC retained Luhr and Michaelis to serve as Quality Built, LLC's Chief Technical Officer and President, respectively, and each held 5% common equity interest. (R. pp. 544-549).

In March 2010, the Southern District of California Bankruptcy Court issued an Order approving a Section 363 "Free and Clear" sale of QualityBuilt.com's assets to Respondent Quality Built, LLC, and authorized consummation of an Asset Purchase Agreement between Quality Built, LLC and QualityBuilt.com (R. pp. 172-319).

Also in March 2010, Quality Built, LLC issued a press release that advertised to the public that it was a "newly *restructured* firm" that retained QualityBuilt.com Founders Luhr and Michaelis as Chief Technical Officer and President. (R. pp. 550-551). (emphasis added).

Circa 2010 – *one year after Quality Built, LLC was formed and incorporated* – Quality Built, LLC advertised itself to the public on the QualityBuilt.com website, [www.QualityBuilt.com](http://www.QualityBuilt.com), as having experience dating back to 1995 – a year after Stan Luhr developed the Quality Built, LLC program (and four years before QualityBuilt.com was even formed):

Fifteen years ago, when insurance carriers refused to insure construction in California, Quality Built went to all the major financial centers in the United States as well as those in London, Dublin and the Bahamas. We met with insurance carriers and provided them with data to demonstrate that construction was not the blind risk they thought it was, provided that construction companies implement proper quality control and inspection systems to assure the quality of construction.

We rolled out our risk management program that has since become the standard for underwriting construction for over 30 insurance carriers. In fact, Quality Built created all of the compliance metrics that are used today by most insurance carriers.

(R. pp. 552-553). (emphasis added).<sup>3</sup>

In 2011 – *two years after Quality Built, LLC allegedly commenced business* - Quality Built, LLC advertised itself to the public on the QualityBuilt.com website, [www.QualityBuilt.com](http://www.QualityBuilt.com), as the only United States company with ISO certification that it held since 2007:

Quality Built™ is the only construction risk inspection firm in the United States that has been awarded a certification from The International Standards Organization (ISO). In 2007, Quality Built received its first certification, ISO 9001:2000, and in March 2010, ISO recertified Quality Built under ISO 9001:2008.

Quality Built is the only construction inspection risk management solution company in the United States that has achieved the highly coveted ISO Certification from the International Standards Organization assuring after rigorous evaluation that Quality Built's systems and work product produces standardized and consistent levels of quality and accuracy.

(R. pp. 554-558) (emphasis added).

In 2012 – *when Quality Built, LLC was allegedly in business for just three years* – Quality Built, LLC advertised to the public on the QualityBuilt.com website, [www.QualityBuilt.com](http://www.QualityBuilt.com) that Beth Michaelis had been with the “Quality Built Organization” for *thirteen years* - which would date back to circa 1999, the year Stan Luhr formed successor QualityBuilt.com:

Beth [Michaelis] is President of Quality Built®, the nation's leading construction quality assurance firm. In her more than 13 years with the Quality Built® organization, Beth continues to expand Quality Built's risk management and quality assurance line of services, with a special focus on cultivating large builder and insurance industry relationships.

(R. pp. 559-560). (emphasis added).

---

<sup>3</sup> Circa 2010, approximately nine months after Luhr assisted in forming Quality Built, LLC, Quality Built, LLC President Kramer terminated Quality Built, LLC CEO Luhr. (R. pp. 719-720).

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

This appeal challenges the Circuit Court's grant of Respondent's Motion for Declaratory Relief. A Circuit Court's decision to grant declaratory relief should be reversed on appeal if there is "a clear showing of an abuse of discretion", and the decision is "clearly against the weight of the evidence or controlled by an error of law." *Med. Univ. of S.C. v. Taylor*, 294 S.C. 99, 103, 362 S.E.2d 881, 883 (Ct. App. 1987) (held that circuit court erred in granting declaratory/injunctive relief because administrative proceedings were already pending on same issues between same parties when declaratory relief action was filed).

This appeal also challenges the Circuit Court's alternative ruling made pursuant to Rule 56 of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure. Since summary judgment is a drastic remedy, it should be cautiously invoked so that no one will be improperly deprived of a trial on disputed factual issues. *Thomas Sand Co. v. Colonial Pipeline Co.*, 349 S.C. 402, 408, 563 S.E.2d 109, 112 (Ct. App. 2002). Appellate courts apply the same standard as circuit courts when a ruling is made under Rule 56, SCRPC. *USAA Prop. & Cas. Ins. Co. v. Clegg*, 377 S.C. 643, 653, 661 S.E.2d 791, 796 (2008). Summary judgment may only be affirmed when there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Rule 56(c), SCRPC; *Singletary v. Aetna-Cas. & Sur. Co.*, 316 S.C. 199, 200, 447 S.E.2d 869, 870 (Ct. App. 1994). "The party seeking summary judgment has the burden of clearly establishing the absence of a genuine issue of material fact." *Froneberger v. Smith*, 406 S.C. 37, 46, 748 S.E.2d 625, 629 (Ct. App. 2013). "Once the party moving for summary judgment meets the initial burden of showing an absence of evidentiary support for the opponent's case, ... the nonmoving party must come forward with specific facts showing there is a genuine issue for trial." *Id.* "[I]n cases applying the preponderance of the evidence burden of proof, the non-moving party is only required to submit a

mere scintilla of evidence in order to withstand a motion for summary judgment.” *Hancock v. Mid-S. Mgmt. Co.*, 381 S.C. 326, 330, 673 S.E.2d 801, 803 (2009).

The appellate court will review all ambiguities, conclusions, and inferences arising in and from the evidence in a light most favorable to the non-moving party below on appeal from an order granting summary judgment. *Clegg*, 377 S.C. at 653, 661 S.E.2d at 796; *Thomas Sand*, 349 S.C. at 408, 563 S.E.2d at 112 (“Even if there is no dispute as to evidentiary facts, summary judgment is not appropriate where there is a dispute as to a conclusion to be drawn from those facts and to clarify the application of the law.”); *Watters v. Terminix Serv., Inc.*, 376 S.C. 632, 635, 658 S.E.2d 110, 111 (Ct. App. 2008) (giving the appellant “every benefit of the doubt”). “Summary judgment should be granted only when it is perfectly clear that *no* issue of fact is involved.” *Piedmont Engineers, Architects & Planners, Inc. v. First Hartford Realty Corp.*, 278 S.C. 195, 196, 293 S.E.2d 706, 707 (1982); *see also Thomas Sand*, 349 S.C. at 408, 563 S.E.2d at 112 (“If triable issues exist, those issues must go to the jury.”).

### **ARGUMENT**

The Circuit Court committed error by granting Respondent’s Motion for Declaratory Relief. The Circuit Court should have refrained from granting declaratory relief since there was not a declaratory judgment action pending. The Circuit Court also erred by misconstruing prevailing precedent as to the lack of legal effect that QualityBuilt.com’s bankruptcy had on Appellants’ claims. Lastly, the trial court erroneously determined that Respondents claims did not fall within the “mere continuation” exception to successor non-liability. It so doing, the trial court misconstrued the facts and invaded the jury’s province. As shown below, Appellants are not barred by the QualityBuilt.com bankruptcy sale order, and are free to bring their state law claims against Quality Built, LLC under a successor liability theory, and have proffered qualifying evidence. This

Court should reverse both Circuit Court Orders and find Appellants are entitled to proceed with their claims against Quality Built, LLC.

**I. The Circuit Court Erred in Granting Quality Built, LLC's Motion for Declaratory Relief In light of the Fact that Quality Built, LLC Never Filed a Declaratory Judgment Cause of Action and Issues of Fact Exist that Should Be Heard by a Jury.**

The Circuit Court should not have granted Quality Built LLC's Motion for Declaratory Relief under Rule 57, SCRPC, over Appellants' objection. *Smith v. S.C. Ret. Sys.*, 336 S.C. 505, 520 S.E.2d 339 (Ct. App. 1999) ("a court should not exercise [declaratory relief] power lightly"). In its April 2017 Order, the Circuit Court erred by ruling under Rule 57 that QualityBuilt.com's Bankruptcy Sale Order is a "complete bar" to Appellants' claims (R. p. 43). This ruling is procedurally improper because Quality Built, LLC has only sought declaratory relief by way of a motion. Even if a declaratory relief motion were construed to be a proper vehicle for relief, the issue of whether an exception to successor non-liability is met triggers questions for a jury, not a judge.

**A. The April 2017 Order that Granted Declaratory Relief Is Procedurally Improper Because Quality Built, LLC Never Filed a Declaratory Judgment Cause of Action.**

Notwithstanding the fact that Quality Built, LLC never filed a declaratory judgment action, the Circuit Court proceeded to grant declaratory relief in its April 2017 Order:

Pursuant to S.C. Code § 15-53-10, et seq., Rule 57, SCRPC, this Court declares that according the [sic] to the plain, unambiguous language of the Sale Order and Purchase Agreement, there is no question the Defendant is free and clear of any liabilities associated with The Gates Project [...](, R. pp. 42-43).

This ruling is an error of law. A declaratory relief award pursuant to the Uniform Declaratory Judgments Act, S.C. Code §§ 15-53-10, et seq., (the "Act") is proper only after a declaratory judgment action is filed. "A party may not make a motion for declaratory relief, but rather, the party must bring an action for a declaratory judgment." *Treece v. S.C. Dep't of Mental Health*

SCDMH, No. CIVA3:08-03909DCNJRM, 2010 WL 1254927, at \*2 (D.S.C. Mar. 24, 2010) (motion for declaratory relief under Fed.R.Civ.P. 57 denied because no action for declaratory relief was filed) (quoting *Kam-Ko Bio-Pharm Trading Co., Ltd.Australia v. Mayne Pharma (USA), Inc.*, 560 F.3d 935, 943 (9th Cir.2009) (plaintiff’s declaratory judgment motion deemed a summary judgment motion because no declaratory judgment cause of action was filed)).<sup>4</sup>

“[T]he requirements of pleading and practice in actions for declaratory relief are exactly the same as in other civil actions, including the requirement that the action is commenced by filing a complaint.” *Treece*, 2010 WL 1254927, at \*2 (emphasis added) (citing 10B Charles Alan Wright, Arthur R. Miller & Mary Kay Kane, *Federal Practice and Procedure* § 2768 (3d ed.1998)); *see also Groves v. City of Darlington, SC*, No. 4:08-CV-0402-TLW-TER, 2010 WL 5257231, at \*2 (D.S.C. June 1, 2010), report and recommendation adopted, No. 4:08-CV-0402-TLW-TER, 2010 WL 5257232 (D.S.C. Dec. 17, 2010) (motion for declaratory judgment held not to be “the proper vehicle to obtain the relief sought” because no cause of action for declaratory relief had been filed).

Quality Built, LLC never filed a declaratory judgment action under the Act. Quality Built’s answer filed in June 2016 is devoid of any reference to a request for declaratory relief. (R. pp. 87-102). Quality Built, LLC’s only pleading seeking declaratory relief is its Motion for Declaratory Relief, or in the Alternative, Motion for Summary Judgment. Quality Built, LLC’s failure to file a

---

<sup>4</sup> Because Rule 57 under the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure and the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure correspond, analysis of the federal rule may be instructive in interpreting the state rule. *Med. Univ. of S.C. v. Taylor*, 294 S.C. 99, 102, 362 S.E.2d 881, 883 (Ct. App. 1987) (“Rule 57 of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure” is “like its federal counterpart.”); *see, e.g., Maybank v. BB&T Corp.*, 416 S.C. 541, 565, 787 S.E.2d 498, 510 (2016); *reh’g denied* (July 13, 2016) (looking to federal cases interpreting Rule 12(h)(1) for guidance on Rule 12(h)(1), SCRCPP); *Wright v. Cordesville Pentecostal Holiness Church*, 310 S.C. 321, 322, 426 S.E.2d 772, 773 (1993) (looking to federal cases to interpret Rule 60(b)(5), SCRCPP); *Mid-State Distributors, Inc. v. Century Importers, Inc.*, 310 S.C. 330, 335–36, 426 S.E.2d 777, 781 (1993) (looking to the federal system in examining appeals from denial of a Rule 12(b)(2) motion).

declaratory judgment action is fatal to its request for declaratory relief. (R. pp. 155-160).

**B. Even if a Declaratory Relief Motion Was the Proper Vehicle, the More Appropriate Remedy is Submission of Those Claims to a Jury.**

Even if the Circuit Court had discretion to grant declaratory relief by motion (which Appellants do not concede), the more appropriate remedy would have been submission of those issues to a jury:

When a proceeding under this chapter involves the determination of an issue of fact such issue may be tried and determined in the same manner as issues of fact are tried and determined in other civil actions in the court in which the proceeding is pending. All existing rights to jury trials are hereby preserved. Section 15-53-90 (emphasis added).

If a declaratory judgment action were pending (which it is not), Appellants' right to a jury trial would be triggered under this provision because at least one "determination of an issue of fact" is involved in Appellants' pending action. The Circuit Court went against the weight of evidence in the record and improperly took over the fact-finding role to determine that Quality Built, LLC did not fall within any of the successor non-liability exceptions. (R. p. 45). This determination is improper even in the Rule 57, SCRPC, context. Appellants have a right to a jury trial because, as shown below, genuine issues of material fact exist, as well as disputes regarding the conclusions to be taken from those facts.

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