THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable G. Thomas Cooper, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Lower Court Case No. 2013-CP-40-7729
Court of Appeals Case No. 2017-002325

RECEIVED

JUN 04 2018

SC Court of Appeals

THE GATES AT WILLIAMS-BRICE CONDOMINIUM
ASSOCIATION and KATHARINE SWINSON, Individually,
and on behalf of all others similarly situated #296848,

Appellants,

v.

QUALITY BUILT, LLC and COAST TO COAST
ENGINEERING SERVICES, INC. d/b/a CRITERIUM
ENGINEERS,

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

5. I am not nor have I ever served as a director, officer or employee of the Debtor. I do not have nor have I ever held any interest in the Debtor or had any control over the Debtor. In fact, except for CAPRI, which was merely a competitor of the Debtor's, neither I nor any member of any company in which I hold an interest have or to my knowledge ever had any connection to the Debtor, its officers, directors, or any other insiders of the Debtor.

6. Quality's proposed purchase of the Debtor's assets was negotiated with the assistance of counsel (Proskauer Rose LLP for Quality; and Keehn & Associates for the Debtor) in an arm's-length transaction, without the existence of any self-dealing, manipulation, collusive bidding, fraud, or other improper behavior.

7. Quality was formed for the purpose of acquiring and operating the Debtor's business. I purposely chose the name Quality Built, LLC because I wanted to maintain a seamless transition in the transaction, and believed that the company's value and viability going forward would benefit by keeping the names of the new owner similar to the prior owner. I have engaged in numerous corporate sale and purchase transactions, and this is very common practice.

9. None of the anticipated members investing cash into Quality have any interest in or connection to the Debtor, its officers, directors, or any other insiders of the Debtor.

10. As an inducement to attract and retain Elizabeth Michaelis and Stan Luhr to serve as President and Chief Technical Officer, respectively, of Quality, Quality has offered these individuals grants of 5% of the common equity interests outstanding in Quality in restricted stock subject to customary forfeiture and repurchase provisions and restrictive covenants. I will serve as Chairman of Quality, and Brian Kramer, a very successful seasoned engineering executive licensed as a Professional Engineer in the State of California with Master of Business Administration, will serve as Chief Executive Officer of Quality. As members holding the majority interest in quality (70%), Mr. Kramer and I will have control over Quality and its operations.

11. Quality's proposed offer to the Debtor's existing officers is very common for a purchase transaction of this type. In fact, the going concern value of a company is often driven, in large part, by the company's existing management, and the retention of such management is often a critical condition to the purchase. I believe that Ms. Michaelis and Mr. Luhr are critical to the success of Quality's business going forward, and that the proposed structure is necessary to retain such individuals. Accordingly, the proposed retention and related structure is a necessary condition to Quality's willingness to proceed with this transaction.

13. I have reviewed the objections to the Sale Motion, and based on the comments, Quality is willing to revise its requested minimum overbid to \$30,000, so long as Quality is entitled to receive a break-up fee of \$25,000 ("Break-up Fee") in the event Quality is not the highest bidder. .

."

(Motion, Affidavit, R.).

In furtherance, the Affidavit of Elizabeth Michaelis (the President of Qualitybuilt.com at the time) was filed with the Bankruptcy Court on February 18, 2010 as a "Reply Declaration . . .

to U.S. Trustee's Response to Debtor's [Qualitybuilt.com] Motion for Order Approving Sale Of Property of the Estate Free and Clear of All Liens, Claims and Encumbrances, Subject to Overbid". (Motion, Affidavit, R.). Ms. Michaelis gave sworn testimony as to:

"1. I am the President of Qualitybuilt.com, a California corporation ("Qualitybuilt.com"), operating a construction risk consultant firm with offices located at 15330 Avenue of Science, San Diego, California, and the debtor-in-possession in this matter.

2. I have previously summarized the Debtor's marketing efforts with respect to the sale of assets and assumption of contracts, which are the subject of the pending motion, that were conducted prior to the commencement of this case. In paragraphs 10 through 14 of my "Omnibus Declaration, etc." filed August 20, 2009, a copy of which is attached hereto marked Exhibit A and incorporated herein by this reference.

3. Since the sale proposed in the original First Day Motions was abandoned, I have contacted the following individuals who I believe might have an intent in acquiring the "Purchased Assets" and, assuming the executory contracts that are the subject of the pending motion:

Mr. Lee Adams
Consolidated Construction Services, Inc.
3235 Donna Drive
Carlsbad, CA 92008

Trey Baldwin
Baldwin Connelly Group
4010 West Boy Scout Blvd, Suite 200
Tampa, FL 33607

Glenn Michael Burns
Profession Warranty Service Corp
4443 Brookfield Corporate Drive, #300
Chantilly, VA 20151

Michael S. Berk
TA Associates
2000 Clarendon St.
Boston, MA 02116

Jeffrey J. Cook CWC
WICK PILCHER
2201 E. Camelback Rd., Suite 220A

Phoenix, AZ 85016

Bruce Halvax
30100 Towncenter Drive
Suite 0-137
Laguna Niguel, CA 92677

Michael Hopson
ZNAIC
12222 Merit Drive, Suite 700
Dallas, TX 75251

4. All of the marketing efforts have been by direct contact with prospective purchasers. We have relied upon this method of marketing because of the nature of the assets involved, only business entities currently involved our sector of the construction industry (providers of third party inspection services) could reasonably expected to have an interest in acquiring our assets. Our market niche is sufficiently narrow that the identify of such prospective purchasers is well known to us."

(Motion, Affidavit, R.).

Despite Appellants' assertions that Respondent is a continuation of Qualitybuilt.com, which the Circuit Court has properly denied twice, the sworn testimony of Mr. Elzweig and Ms. Michaelis clearly shows that Respondent is not a continuation of Qualitybuilt.com. Accordingly, no factual issue prevents summary judgment based on this exception.

D. The Purchase Agreement was not entered into fraudulently for the purpose of wrongfully defeating creditors' claims

The Purchase Agreement was not entered into fraudulently for the purpose of defeating any creditors of Qualitybuilt.com. The Purchase Agreement and each of the transactions contemplated therein were negotiated, proposed and entered into by Qualitybuilt.com and Respondent in good faith, without collusion or fraud and from arm's-length bargaining positions. (Sale Order, R.). Respondent was a good faith purchaser within the meaning of section 363(m) of the Bankruptcy Code. The approval of the Purchase Agreement and the consummation of the Sale Transaction by the Bankruptcy Court was in the best interest of Qualitybuilt.com, its

creditors, its estate, and other parties in interest. (Sale Order, R.). "The Purchase Agreement was not entered into, and the Debtor, the Purchaser or the Purchasers present at the Sale Hearing or contemplated owners, have not entered into the Purchase Agreement or propose to consummate the Sale Transaction, for the purpose of hindering, delaying or defrauding the Debtor's present or future creditors. Neither the Debtor, the Purchaser nor the Purchasers present at the Sale Hearing or contemplated owners are entering into the Purchase Agreement, or proposing to consummate the Sale Transaction, fraudulently for the purpose of statutory and common law fraudulent conveyance and fraudulent transfer claims whether under the Bankruptcy Code or under the laws of the United States." (Sale Order, R.). Accordingly, no factual issue prevents summary judgment based on this exception.

IV. APPELLANTS ARE NOT CLAIMANTS UNDER 11 U.S.C.A. § 101(5)

As stated, Appellants assert that Respondent is liable under South Carolina common law successor liability theory and Respondent is a mere continuation of Qualitybuilt.com. Appellants incorrectly rely on Nationwide Mut. Ins. Co. v. Eagle Windows & Doors, Inc., 394 S.C. 54, 714 S.E.2d 322 (2011) to establish that Appellants are not claimants under 11 U.S.C. § 101(5) and therefore may pursue an action in tort against Respondent, post-sale under a successor liability theory. 394 S.C. 54 (2011).

The Nationwide case is also a product defect case regarding defective windows placed in the stream of commerce by a predecessor company and is distinguishable from one-time quality control services provided by Qualitybuilt.com at The Gates. The test to which Appellants cite in the Nationwide case to determine the type of claim reads:

[A]n individual has a §101(5) claim [which is limited by the free and clear sale to *in rem* against the sale proceeds held by the Debtor] **against a debtor manufacturer** if (i) events occurring before confirmation create a relationship, such as contact, exposure, impact, or privity, between the

claimant and the debtor's product; and (ii) the basis for liability is the debtor's prepetition conduct in designing, manufacturing and selling the allegedly defective or dangerous product. ...

Nationwide, 394 S.C. at 59 (emphasis added). The United States Bankruptcy Code simply defines a claim under § 101(5) as "[a] right to payment, whether or not such right is reduced to judgment, liquidated, unliquidated, fixed, contingent, matured, unmatured, disputed, undisputed, legal, equitable, secured, or unsecured; or [a] right to an equitable remedy for breach of performance if such breach gives rise to a right to payment, whether or not such right to an equitable remedy is reduced to judgment, fixed, contingent, matured, unmatured, disputed, undisputed, secured, or unsecured." 11 U.S.C. § 101(5). Additionally, the bankruptcy order in Nationwide includes a "free and clear" clause which contemplates claims arising before the closing of the sale of the assets. Nationwide, 394 S.C. at 58. The bankruptcy order in the instant case clearly includes a "free and clear" clause which bars all claims before or after the petition date:

[F]ree and clear of liens, claims (as such term is defined by section 101(5) of the Bankruptcy Code), liabilities encumbrances, rights, remedies, restrictions, and interests and encumbrances of any kind of nature whatsoever **whether arising before or after the Petition Date**, whether at law or in equity (emphasis added)

(Sale Order, R.).

The Respondent argues the Nationwide tests as to determining the type of claim are inapplicable. Nationwide speaks to product manufacturer liability in the successor context and employs a more limited bankruptcy order, whereas the Sale Order in instant case bars all future claims and regards administration of quality control inspection services.

Appellants argue that once it is established they are not § 101(5) claimants, Appellants may pursue a tort claim against Respondent under state law and South Carolina precedent sets

forth exceptions to successor non-liability in Brown¹³ and Simmons¹⁴, one being the "mere continuation" exception. Simmons v. Mark Lift Industries, Inc., 366 S.C. 308 (2005); Brown v. American R. E. Co., 128 S.C. 428, 431 (1924). Respondent argues these cases are distinguishable from the instant case, as Nationwide, Simmons, and Brown overwhelmingly and specifically address products liability actions.

Brown is distinguishable, as it constitutes the continuation of one transaction - the purchase and delivery of goods, and the delivery of which was never completed. Brown, 128 S.C. 428 (1924). It is alleged that Qualitybuilt.com, as owner of certain intellectual property, provided services for quality control at The Gates, which was completed in 2007. There is no continuity of the predecessor's work at The Gates by the Respondent after Respondent was incorporated in 2009. Therefore there is no comparable analysis as Respondent is not liable in the instant case for completion of The Gates, or in Brown - payment of lost shipment. Id. at 434.

Likewise, in Simmons the Court considers certified questions arising from the product liability context. Respondent argues the Simmons facts cannot be treated as tantamount to those in the instant case to apply the Brown test to this matter. The certified question posed to the Supreme Court in Simmons contemplates the successor company manufacturing a product

¹³ The Brown case from 1924 involves a railway defendant which was deemed liable by the circuit court for its predecessor's failure to deliver a shipment to the plaintiff. At the time the predecessor company processed and received the shipment on January 14, 1918, the defendant was not yet in existence. Brown, 128 S.C. at 429-30. On July 1, 1918, the defendant was incorporated and assumed by purchase certain property of the predecessor company. Id. at 430. On July 1, 1920, the plaintiff brought its suit against defendant for failure to deliver the shipment. Id. at 429. At the time of the suit, the predecessor company remained viable with assets. Id. at 430.

¹⁴ The Simmons case cited by Appellants answers specific, certified questions from the United States District Court for the District of South Carolina by applying the Brown successor liability test. 366 S.C. 308 (2005). The certified questions posed to the Supreme Court regarding successor liability each specifically apply to products liability claims. Id. at 309-10. The facts in Simmons concern a predecessor company which manufactured scissor lifts until it was purchased by the successor company in 1991 which continued to manufacture similar scissor lifts until 1992. Id. at 310-11. The plaintiff's claim was for injuries sustained by a scissor lift occurring in 1999 which was manufactured and sold by the predecessor company. Id. at 310. As part of the purchase agreement, the successor company purchased "the inventory of supplies, raw materials, work in progress, finished goods, trademarks, service marks, trade names, goodwill, all intellectual property, such as drawings, designs, blueprints, patents, licenses, and technology." Id. at 311.

placed in the stream of commerce, which is perpetuated by the successor company's purchase of designs, technology, licenses, and so on, to create that product. The injury was sustained by the similar product created by the predecessor company. In the instant case, neither Respondent nor its predecessor placed unreasonably dangerous or defective products into the stream of commerce. To the contrary, Appellants allege Qualitybuilt.com was retained to perform a service at The Gates as one transaction in the form of quality control inspection. Respondent argues this is a one-time service and there is no product being placed in the stream of commerce.

Generally, a precursor to a products liability action in South Carolina is the defendant's placement of an unreasonably dangerous product into the stream of commerce. Thus, there is an inherent public policy demand for responsibility for products present in the stream of commerce into perpetuity, regardless of whether the predecessor manufacturer was the one that placed it in the stream, as opposed to the successor. Thereafter, it is the Nationwide case that contemplates a means for a plaintiff to pursue an action in tort against the product manufacturer, post-bankruptcy sale. Nationwide, 394 S.C. 54.

V. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN ISSUING AN ORDER DENYING APPELLANTS' MOTION FOR RECONSIDERATION

The Appellants filed a Motion for Reconsideration pursuant to Rule 52 and 59(e) of the SCRCP requesting the Circuit Court amend and/or reconsider its April 7, 2017 Order granting Respondent's Motion for Declaratory Relief or in the Alternative, Motion for Summary Judgment.

The purpose of Rule 59(e), SCRCP, to alter or amend the judgment is to allow the parties liberal opportunity to move for the trial judge to reconsider matters properly encompassed in a decision on the merits, regardless of whether the issues and arguments have been previously

presented. "A party may wish to file such a motion when she believes the court has misunderstood, failed to fully consider, or perhaps failed to rule on an argument or issue, and the party wishes for the court to reconsider or rule on it. A party must file such a motion when an issue or argument has been raised, but not ruled on, in order to preserve it for appellate review." Elam v. South Carolina Dept. of Transp., 361 S.C. 9, 24, 602 S.E.2d 772, 780 (2004). "A party cannot use a motion to reconsider to present an issue he could have raised prior to judgment but did not." Anderson Memorial Hosp.. Inc. v. Hagen, 313 S.C. 497, 498, 443 S.E. 2d 399, 400 (Ct. App. 1994) (citing C.A.H. v. L.H., 315 S.C. 389, 434 S.E. 2d 268 (1993)).

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